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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF OREGON

PORTLAND DIVISION

RONALD K. HOOKS , Regional Director of | Case No0.3:12cv-01691SI
the Nineteenth Region of the National Labor
Relations Boardfor and on behalf of the
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,

Petitioner
OPINION AND ORDER
V.

INTERNATIONAL LONGSHORE AND
WAREHOUSE UNION, LOCAL 8;
INTERNATIONAL LONGSHORE AND
WAREHOUSE UNION, LOCAL 40, and
INTERNATIONAL LONGSHORE AND
WAREHOUSE UNION,

Respmdents.

Anne P. Pomerantz amdaraLouise Anzalone, National Labor Relationsdd, Region 19, 915
Second Avenue, Room 2948, Seattle, Washington 98174; Lisa J. Dunn, National Labor
Relations Board, Subregion 36, 601 SW Second Avenue, Suite 1910, Portland, Oregon 97204.
Attorneys for Petitioner

Robert Remar and Eleanor Morton, Leonard Carder, LLP, 1188 Franklin St. #201, San
Francisco, California 94109; Robert Lavitt, Schwerin, Campbell, Barnartzihgind Lavitt,
LLP, 18 West Mercer Street, Suite®}(Beattle, Washington 98119-3871. Attorneys for
Respondents.

SIMON, District Judge.

This actionarises from alispute at Terminal 6 at the Port of Portland concerning the
work of plugging in, unplugging, and monitoring refrigerated shipping contaiterSréefer
work”). Thelnternational Longshore and Warehouse Ur{ititwU”) and the Pacific Maritime

Association (“PMA”) contend that their collective bargaining agreerméme Pacific Coast
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Longslore Contract Document (“PCLCD*requires ICTSI Oregon, In€.ICTSI”), the

operator of Terminal 6 and a PMA member, to assign the reefer work to ILWU meen@ESI,

the Port of Portlan@he “Port”), and the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers
(“IBEW?") Local 48 contend that other contracts—including erminal 6 Lease Agreement
between the Port and ICTSI and the District Council of Trade Unions Agreenteetebehe

Port and IBEW—require that the reefer work be assigned to IBEW members.dDatAL3,

2012, a three-member panel of the National Labor Relations Biba'tNLRB”) issued a

decision pursuant to 8§ 10(k) of the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”), 29 U.S.C. 8§ 160(k),
concluding that employees represented by IBEW are entitled to perforeefiee work.Int'l

Bhd. of Elec. Workers858 NLRB No. 102, 2012 WL 3306478 (Aug. 13, 2012).

Several shipping companies that call on the Port of PortlandQueiérs”) are members
of PMA, and, as such, are parties to the PCLCD. NotwithstandingliR&’'s 8 10(k) decision,
ILWU, ILWU Local 8, and ILWU Laal 40 (collectively “Respondents”) have continued to file
and process lost work opportunity grievances againsEéneers seeking lost wages for reefer
work assigned to IBEW members. In addition, ILWU has not withdrawn its claim omabh
8 301 of the LaboManagement Relations Aagainst ICTSI innt’l Longshore & Warehouse
Union v. ICTSI Oregon, IncGase No3:12cv-01058SlI (D. Or.) (the “§ 301 claimi), a related
action pending in this Courinits 8 301 claim, ILWU asks this Coud confirm arbitration
awards made pursuant to the PCLCD that require ICTSI to assign the reg¢o W.\WWU
members

In response to Respondents’ refusal to withdraw their 8 301 claim and their continued
pursuit of grievances against tGarriers ICTSI filed two unfa labor practicechargeswith

PetitionerRonald K. Hooks, the Regional Director of the Nineteenth Region of the NLRB
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(“Petitioner”). Retitioner consolidated ICTSI's charges and issareddministrative complaint
against RespondentBhe administrative coplaint alleges that Respondents are viotatin

88 8(b)(4)(ii)(B) and (D) of the NLRA by continuing to pursueitt®e301 claim and lost work
opportunity grievances after thRB’s § 10(k) decision awarded the reefer work to IBEW
membersThis administratie complaint is pending before the adjudicatory section of the
NLRB."

Before theCourt is Petitioner’s petition for a preliminary injunction pursuant to 8§ 10(l) of
the NLRA 29 U.S.C. § 160(]). Dkt. 1. Petitioner seeks to enjoin Respondents from pursuing
grievances against ICTSI and t@arriersand maintaining their § 3adaim against ICTSI
pendingthe NLRBs final decision orPetitionets unfair labor practice charges. For the reasons
discussed below, theourtfinds that Petitioner has satisfied ttré@eria for a preliminary
injunction Accordingly, as describedorefully below, the Courtpreliminarily enjoins
Respondents from filing lost work opportunity grievances against ICTiBe@arrierspending
the NLRBs final decisior? In addition, the Counvill stay ILWU'’s § 301claim inthepending
caselnt’l Longshore & Warehouse Union v. ICTSI Oregon, I@ase No3:12cv-01058SI (D.

Or.).

! The NLRB has separate adjudicatory and prosecutorial sections. THg bafisting
of five board members appointed by the president to five-year terms, controls theaadjydic
functions of the NLRB. The NLRB’s General Counsel, who is appointed by the president to a
four-year term, leads the prosecutorial section. Thdtrnssia single enforcement agency with
authority divided between two independent units.” J. HiggiAg,OEVELOPING LABOR LAW
2656-57 (5th ed. 2006); 29 U.S.C. § 153. Petitioner’'s complaint is brought under the authority of
the General Counsel. 29 U.S.C. § 153(d).

2 Preliminary injunctions “that are issued under Section . . . 10(l) normally expire
issuance of [an NLRB] decision in the underlying case.” Higgins at 2742. The NLldeBision
will be appealable to United State Court of Appeals in eitie Ninth Circuit or the District of
Columbia Circuit. 29 U.S.C. § 160(f).
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BACKGROUND
A. The Parties

PMA is a multtemployer collective bargaining association whose membeitsde
stevedring companies, terminal operators, and shippogpaniesDkt. 2-2 at 136-37. The
Carriers who are members of PMA, include Cosco North America, Inc., Hamburg Sud North
America, Inc., Hanjin Shipping America, LLC, Hapag Lloyd America, Inc’, ke America,
Inc., and Yang Ming America Corporatiddee, e.g.Dkt. 2-2 at 18 and 60; Dkt. 2-3 at { 5.
Respmdents are labor organizations. Dkt. 2-2 at 136.

ILWU and PMA are party to a collective bargaining agreement known as theéR&L
ThePCLCD governs theetms and employment of all ILWU longshore workers employed by
PMA member companietinder Section 1 of the PCLCD, ILWU membeggpear to bentitled
to perform the reefer workt ports along the West Coast, including the Port of Portland. Dkt. 2-2
at 161. The PCLCD contains a grievance and arbitration procedure for resolvingsiessiig)
under thePCLCD. SeeDkt. 2-2 at 165-84see alsd?ac. Mar. Ass’n v. Int'l Longshore &
Warehouse Union, Local 8:12¢v-1100-SI, 2012 WL 2994062 (D. Or. July 20, 2012)
(discussing PCLCD grievance and arbitration procedures).

The Port is not a member of PMA and is not party to the PCLCD. IBEW is also not a

party to the PCLCD. The Port and IBEW, however, are parties to their own ie@llbatgaining

% The PCLCD covers work performed by ILWU Local 8 longshore workers. PMA and
ILWU are also party to a collective bargaining agreement called the Pacifit Cledss
Contract Document (“PCCCD?”), which covers work performed by ILWU Localldiks.
Together, the two collective bargaining agreements are known as the “PaesicL@agshore
and Clerks Agreement.” The bulk of the grievances described in this Opinion arguradant
to the PCLCD by ILWU Local 8. Nonetheless, ILWU Local 40 has fileéadtlone grievance
under the PCCCD related to reefer work. Dkt. 2-2 at 121.
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agreementknown aghe District Councibf Trade Unions greement (“DCTUAgreement”).
Under the DCTU Agreement, IBEWWepresented employeage entitled to perform the reefer
work at Terminal 6 and have done so since 18%4.Bhd. of Elec. Worker2012 WL 3306478,
at*1.

ICTSIis a cargo handling compar®etition for Preliminary Injunctive Reli¢fPet.”) at
1 8(a) (Dkt. 1)In 2011, ICTSI entered into a 2&ar lease with the Port to operate Terminal 6
the Port of Portlandnt’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers2012 WL 3306478at*1. Although ICTSI is
not a signatory to the DCTU Agreement, the Terminal 6 Lease provides &ty not
“undertake any action that would cause the Port to be in violation of the terms of the DCTU
Agreement.’ld. at *2 (quoting Terminal 6 Leagggreement)Shortly dter ICTSI entered into
the Terminal 6 Lease, it joined PMA. As a member of PMA, ICTSI became bound by the
PCLCD.Id. Even though ICTSI is party to the PCLCD, the Port, IBEW, and ICTSI contend that
the DCTU Agreement and the Terminal 6 Lease require ICT@&EatBEW-represented
employees to perform the reefer work on Terminal 6. When it began operatinghdlesmi
ICTSI used IBEW members to perform reefer work on Terminal 6.
B. The § 10(k) Decision

In early2012, pursuant to the PCLCDgsievance procedureRespondentsegan to file
“lost work opportunity’grievancesgainst ICTSI anthe Carriers See, e.gDkt. 2-2 at 9, 12-
20.Thesegrievancs allegethat ICTSI and th€arriersare inappropriately contracting non-
ILWU memberdi.e.,IBEW members) to perform the reefer wpnk violation of Section 1 of
the PCLCD In June, pursuant to the PCLCD'’s arbitration provisions, an arbitrator issued two
decisiondirectingICTSI to assign the reefer work to ILWU membddkt. 2-2 at 191, 196-97.

Section 301 of the Labor Management Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. § 185, provided States
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District Courts with jurisdiction to enforce final and binding arbitration awaBs#sh. Drivers,
Warehousemen & Helpers, Local Union No. 89 v. Riss & & U.S. 517, 519 (1963) (per
curiam) ILWU brought an action pursuant to § 30lie“§ 301 claim,”described aboveto
enforce these arbitration awardkt. 2-2 at 135-47Int’l Longshore & Warehouse Union v.
ICTSI Oregon, Inc.Case No. 3:12v-01058SI (D. Or.).

In response to Respondents’ grievances, in May 2012, IBEW threatened to picket if
ICTSI assigned the reefer work to ILWU membéng! Bhd. of Elec. Workers2012 WL
3306478, at *4ICTSI filed unfair labor practicehargesagainst IBEW witithe NLRB Id.
at*1. ILWU Local 8 intervened in the case, aheé NLRBheld a 8 10(k) proceeding. “AB(Kk)
proceeding is a hearing conducted by the NLRB subsequent to a § 8(b)(4)(iijiD)acla
determine which union has the superior claim to ‘work in dispudiron Constr. Co., Inc. v.
Int’l Union of Operating Eng’rs, Local 1394 F.3d 558, 561 n.11 (7th Cir. 1995).

On August 13, 2012he NLRBissued a 80(k) decisiorthat awardedhe reefer work to
themembers of IBEW. In its decisiothe NLRBnoted that bothIBEW and ILWU are party to
collectivebargaining agreements that cover the disputed tvaadkat *5. Under the PCLCD,
ICTSI is bound to assign the reefer work to ILWU memberdJnder the DCTU Agreement,
the Port is bound to assign the reefer worlB&W membersld. After considering a variety of
factors,including the provisions dhe applicable collective bargaining agreements, employer
preference, papractice, area and industry practice, relative skills and traiamyeconomy
and efficiencyof operationsthe NLRB concluded that employees represented by IBEW are
entitled to perform the work in disputdd. at *7.

C. Respondents Conduct After the § 10(k) Decision
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TheNLRB’s § 10(k) decision awarded the reefer work to IBEW members. Nonetheless,
according to Petitioner, Respondents have engaged in three courses of condunt SricKk)
decision that are unfair labor practigessiolation of the NLRA. First, ILWU has continued to
maintain its § 301 claim imt'| Longshore & Warehouse Union v. ICTSI Oregon, I@ase No.
3:12¢v-01058SI (D. Or.). Pet. at 1 8(s)Second, Respondents hdiled dozens of lost work
opportunitygrievances against the Carriémet. at § 8(r) and (t). These grievances seek
payment of lost wages from tiarries because ILWU “mechanics were not hired” to perform
thereefer workat issue Dkt. 2-2 at 64-119; Dkts. 19-1, 19-2. Third, Respondents have
maintained outstanding lost work opportunity grievances and filed new lost work opportunity
grievances against ICT.Set. at{ 8(r). At oral argument, counsel for Respondents represented
thatILWU has withdrawn all outstanding grievances against IC3&. alsdkt. 192 at3.

D. Petitioner’s Administrative Complaint Against Respondents

On August 17 and 22, 2012, ICTi8éd two newcharges with Petitiongalleging that
Respondents are engaging in additian#hir labor practiced?et. at { 3. Petitioner consolidated
the charges and issued an administrative complaintthvetiNLRBagainst Respondentdleging
that Repondents are violating &{b)(4)ii) (B) and (D) of the NLRA. Dkt. 2-Fee als®9
C.F.R. § 101.8 (governing issuance of unfair labor practice complaints). Pursuant tdthe NL
and the NLRB's rules and regulations, an administrative law judge (“ALI"Ywald a hearing
on Petitioner’s administrative complaint and issue a decision. 29 C.F.R. 88 101.10 and 101.11.
Petitioner, ICTSI, and Respondents will have an opportunity to appeal the ALJipnld¢aithe

memberof the NLRB Id. at§ 101.12. If any paytdisagreesvith the NLRBs decision, that

* Petitioner also alleges that Respondents have “threatened” the Carriers by tesmin
letters statinghat Respondents’ would prosecute lost work opportunity grievances against the
Carriers. Pet. at 1 8(peDkt. 2-2 at 206-16.

Page7 —OPINION AND ORDER



party may appeal the NLR8decision to the United State Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit
or the District of Columbia Circuitd. at § 101.14; 29 U.S.C. § 160(f). This Court does not have
jurisdiction to har Petitioner’'s administrative complaint and will not ultimately decide any of
the unfair labor practice claims raisedtihe administrative complainthis Court also will not
review the NLRB’s decisior\WWalsh v. Int'l Longshoremen’s Ass’'n, AFL-CIO, Local ,7/830
F.2d 864, 868 (1st Cir. 1980)The limited effect of a sectiohO(l) decision flows naturally from
the limited role of the district court in hearing the petition. The [district] coud doedecide
whether an unfair labor practice has occurtkdt decision is for the Board, subject to review by
the court of appeals.”). Section 10(l) of the NLRA, however, grants this {Coisdiction to
issuepreliminary injunctive relief pendintdhe NLRBs final decision on Petitioner’'s
administrativecomplaint. 29 U.S.C. 8§ 160(]).
STANDARDS FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

A preliminary injunction is an “extraordinary remedy that may only be awarded upon a
clear showing that the plaintiff is entitled to such reli®¥inter v. Natural Res. Def. Council
555 U.S. 7, 22 (2008). Alaintiff seeking a preliminary injunction must show: (1) that he is
likely to succeed on the merits; (2) that he is likely to suffer irreparabhe inethe absence of
preliminary relief; (3) that the balance of equities tips in his faaod; (4) that an injunction is in
the public interestd. at 20.A district courtin the Ninth Circuitmust apply th&Vinterelements
to requests for § 10(l) preliminary injunctior@&nall v. Operative Plasterers’ & Cement Masons’
Int'l Ass’n Local 200, AL-CIO, 611 F.3d 483, 489-90 (9th Cir. 2010).

The Supreme Court’s decision\Winter, however, did not entirely displace the Ninth
Circuit’s “sliding scale” approach to preliminary injunctioAdliance for the Wild Rockies v.

Cottrell, 632 F.3d 1127, 1131 (9th Cir. 2011). Under this approach, “a stronger showing of one
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element may offset a weaker showing of anothier.Thus, a preliminary injunction may be
granted “if there is a likelihood of irreparable injury to plaintiff; there serious question®ng
to the merits; the balance of hardships siparplyin favor of the plaintiff; and the injunction is
in the public interest.M.R. v. Dreyfus663 F.3d 1100, 1108 (9th Cir.2011) (emphasis added);
see also Alliance for the Wild RockiéS82 F.3d at 1132.
DISCUSSION

Petitioner seeks a 8§ 10(l) preliminary injunction enjoining “Respondents from:
(a) threatening or coercing ICTSI and others; (b) filing, maintaining ampdémessing
grievances against ICTSI that seek any relief inconsistent with theAWéy; and (c)
maintaining their legal action ihWU and PMA v. ICTSI Oregon, In€ase No. 3:12v-
01058-SI, in each case with the dual objects of forcing the assignment of certato wor
Respondent Local 8 and/or Respondent Local 40, in violatior8(§)&)(ii)(B) and
8 8(b)(4)(ii)(D) of the Act.” Mem. of P. & A. at 9 (Dkt. 2). As discussed below, the Court finds
thatPetitioner meets each of the falinterelements
A. Likelihood of Success on the Merits

The firstWinterelement requireBetitioner todemonstrat¢hathe is likely to succeed on
the merits of his claim$etitioner’'s administrative complaint raises two claims. First, Petitioner
alleges that Respondents have violated 8§ 8(f)@) of the NLRA by unlawfully attempting to
cause ICTSI ahtheCarriersto cease doing business with the Port. Dkt. 2-3 at ] 12, 14.
Second, Petitioner alleges that Respondents have vig@a&é)(4)(ii)(D) of the NLRADby
unlawfully attempting to cause the Port and ICTSI tassign the reefer work to their members,
in contravention tehe NLRBs August 13, 2012, § 10(k) decisiawarding the reefer work to

IBEW membersDkt. 2-3 at 11 13L4. Because th€ourtfinds that analysis of Petitioner’s
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8 8(b)(4)(ii)(D) claimbeas on Petitioner’s § 8(b)(4)(ii)(B) cle, theCourt begins with the
8§ 8(b)(4)(ii)(D) claim.

1. 8§ 8(b)(4)(ii)(D)

Congress “intended to make the section 10(k) proceeding the peaceful and binding fina
determination of a disputed work assignmentp}’l Longshoremen’s & Warehousemen’

Union, Local 32 v. Pac. Mar. Ass'ii73 F.2d 1012, 1020 (9th Cir. 1985) (internal quotation
marks and citation omitted). As su@gction 10(k) awards “take precedence” over inconsistent
arbitration awardsCarey v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp75 U.S. 261, 272 (1964)[ o effectuate
the purposes dg] 10(k), it is essential that once an NLRB order becomes final, no cetate—

or federal—be permitted to impair compliance withH iAssociated Gen. Contractors of Am.,

Inc., Oregon-Columbia Chapter v. Int'l Union of Operating Eng’rs, Local, B2D F.2d 1395,
1397 (9th Cir. 1976).

Section 8(b)(4)(ii)(D)provides that it is an unfair labor practice for a union to “threaten,
coerce, or restrain any person engaged in commerce” with the object of fmrceguiring “any
empoyer to assign particular work to employees in a particular labor org@amizat. rather than
to employees in another labor organization[.]” 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(d). After the NLRB has
issued a 8§ 10(k) decision resolving a disputed work assigninisd, violation of
8 8(b)(4)(ii)(D) for the losing uniorto file lost work opportunitygrievance®r 8§ 301 claimghat
have the object of undermining the 8§ 10(k) awértll Longshoremers & Warehousemes’

Union, Local 32773 F.2d at 1015 (“The unianattempt to obtain payment for work to which it
is not entitled would, if successful, completely undermine the section 10(k) workrassitj);
Local 30, United Slate, Tile & Composition Roofers, Damp & Waterproof Workers Ass’n, AFL

ClIOv. N.L.R.B.1 F.3d 1419, 1426 (3d Cir. 1993) (“the pursuit of a section 301 breach of
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contract suit that directly conflicts with a section 10(k) determination has gal ilbjective and
is enjoinable as an unfair labor practice under se&b)(4)(ii)(D)”); Sheet Metl Workers Int’l
Assoc,. 357 NLRB No. 131, 2011 WL 6120725 (Dec. 8, 2011) (“It is well established that a
union’s lawsuit to obtain work awarded the NLRBunder Section 10(Kk) to a different group of
employees, or monetary damages in lieu of the workahaléegal objective . . and violates
Section 8(b)(4)(ii)(D).").

Given this welestablished precedetithe NLRBIs likely to determine that Respondents’
claims against ICTS+both the § 301 claim and any pending lost work opportunity grievances
made undr the PCLCDB—violate 8§ 8(b)(4)(ii)(D). With respect to the § 301 clatire NLRBs
8 10(k) decision awarding the reefer work to IBE®presented employees takes precedence
over the conflicting arbitration awards requiring ICTSI to assign tHemaerk tolLWU -
represented employees. Accordinghge NLRBis likely to find that Respondents have violated
§ 8(b)(4)(ii)(D) by refusing to withdraw the § 301 claim. Respondents do not disagree.

Respondents represented at oral argument that they have withdrévghwaork
opportunitygrievancependingagainst ICTSISeealso Dkt. 192 at3. Nonethelesst
Respondenta/ere tofile a newlost work opportunitygrievanceagainst ICTSI demanding wages

for hours worked by IBEWepresented employees performing reeferk, the NLRBwould

®> Respondents explain that they are maintaining their § 301 claim in order to parfect
appeal of the § 10(k) decision: “Saissuance ahe NLRBs § 10(k) ruling, Respondent ILWU
has not withdrawn its pending lawsuit against ICTILWU/PMA v. ICTSICase No. 3:12v-
01058-SlI, which seeks judicial enforcement of CLRC and arbitration rulings requ@iig] to
assign the rder work to ILWU mechanics. This is because the statutory scheme of § 10(k) and
8(b)(4)(D) require such refusal in order to perfect an appeal challengingettie afithe
NLRB's 8§ 10(k) award, which appeal ILWU is seeking.” Opy'riPet. at 34 (Dkt. 21).To
obtain review of a § 10(k) decision, “a party must fail to comply, thereby premigitan ‘unfair
labor practice’ proceeding in which the § 10(k) award becomes important evidence.hathen t
proceeding culminates, as it must, in a final order, the disappointed party can érmdehinto
court and challenge the underlying 8 10(k) determinatids.” White Contracting Co. v. Local
103 Int’'l Bhd of Elec. Workers890 F.2d 528, 531 (1st Cir. 1989).
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likely find that sucha grievanceriolates 8 8(b)(4)(ii)(D). See Int’l Assi of Bridge, Structural &
Ornamental Iron Workers, Local No. 4388 NLRB No. 105, 1992 WL 230507 (Sept. 10,
1992)(union’s filing of timein-lieu grievancesgainst employer after 8 10(k) decision awarded
disputed work to another iom violated § 8(b)(4)(ii)(D))Thus, the Court finds th&etitioner is
likely to succeed on his claim in his administrative complaint with respect fmResnts’ § 301
claim andpotential grievances against ICTSI.

Respondents’ grievances against@aerierspresent anore difficult question.
Respondents argulkeat their grievances against t@arriersdo not violate 8(b)(4)(ii)(D)
becausehey do not undermine the 8§ 10(k) award. Respondents contend thaettaaces
against theCarriersseek “money damages . for subcontracting out the reefer work to non-unit
personnel[] Opp’'nto Pet. at 1. As such, Respondents contetin@jr grievances against the
Carriersdo “not cofflict with the NLRBs § 10(k)award[.]” Id.

Respondentsargument igrounded in a line of cases beginning wAgsociated General
Contractors of America, Inc., Oregon-Columbia Chapter v. International Union of Operating
Engineers, Local 701529 F.2d 1395 (9th Cir. 1976)AGC’). Associated General Contractors
(“AGC”) was a muliemployer collective bargaining association. AGC dmalinternational
Union of Operating Engineers, Local 701 (“Local 701") were pattiescollective bargaining
agreement (“CBA”)The CBA providedhat AGGmember companies wereuse Local 701
members to operamncrete pumpd.he CBAalsoprovided that AGC members were
prohibited from subcontracting any work to a subcontrabttwas not also a party to tA&C-
Local 701CBA.

Pump-con was a concrete pumping company. Pump-con wasmernber of AGC or a

signatory to the AGC-Local 701 CBA. Pump-con was, however, a member of another mult
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employer group known as the Northwest Concrete Pumping Association (“Northwest”
Northwestwas party to a different CB#ith the Teamsters Union. The Northw@samsters

CBA provided that the operation of concrete pumps was to be performed by members of the
Teamsters.

An AGC memberWesterrPacific, subcontracted a concrete pumping job to Pump-con.
Pump-con theemployed a Teamster memlberoperate a concrete pump. In response, Local
701 filed a grievance, pursuanttte AGGLocal 701CBA. A “Board of Adjustment, as
provided in the AGC-Local 701 agreement, heard the grievance and ruled that the digpkited w
was to be performed by a member of Local 70d.’at 1396. The Teamsters threatened to strike,
and WesterPacific filed a unfair labor practiceharge withthe NLRB

In a8 10(k) decisionthe NLRBawarded the concrepmping work tdhe Teamsters.

“In addition, at the request of Northwest, the NLRB expanded the scope of its order talcover
situations in which members of the Northwest performed concreteipgnprk for AGC
contractors.’ld. Despite this rulingl.ocal 701 “continuedo file grievances against AGC
members who subcontracted pumping work to members of Northwest. In essence, Local 701
maintained that the NLRE8 10(k)] order, while requiring members of Northwest to use
Teamsters members on their concrete pumps, dicchete AGC members of their obligations
under the collective bargaining agreement to subcontract with signatories @¢d@w.dcal 701
agreement and thus, by implication, not to contract with members of Northidest.

The Ninth Circuit agreed with LocaDZ that despite the § 10(k) award, they could
pursue their grievances against AGC members who subcontracted pumping eariptnies
that were not party to the AGC-Local 701 CBA. The Ninth Circuit noted that Local 701's

grievances did not seek to compel Northwest to use Local 701 members to operate e
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pumps. Instead, Local 701’s grievances sought mdaeages from AGC members who
breached the subcontracting clause in the A@€al 701 CBA. The Ninth Circuit explained:

If Local 701 were suing Nthwest to compel it to use members of Local 701
rather than Teamsters to operate concrete pumps, it is clear that the[§lLB®)] order
would preclude relief in this court. . . . If Local 701 were suing Northwest for dzsnig
is arguable that the ada would be required to abstain. . . . In both hypothetical situations
a judgment in favor of the union which lost before the NLRB could place the employer
‘between the devil and the deep blue,’ . . . forced either to violate the NLRB'’s order or
the courls decree.

Id. at 1397 (internal citations omitted). Local 701’s grievances, however, avoided those
problems. AGC members could comply with both the § 10(k) decision and the AGC-Local 701
CBA by subcontracting only to employers who were parties td@@-Local 701 CBA. Thus,
Local 701’'s grievances did not place AGC members “between the devil and the deep blue”

If AGC members used only subcontractors signatory to the AGC-Local 701 [CBA] . ..
they would fulfill their contractual obligations to Local 701 under[@BA] without at

the same time violating the NLRB order.. [T]here is no legal obligation upon an AGC
member to contract with a member of Northwest.It is the making of such a

subcontract which breaches the AGGcal 701 contract. In € a case, because of the
NLRB decision, Local 701 cannot force the employment of its members on the job. The
Board’s decision does, to that extent, preempt the AGC-Local 701 agreement. But this
does not mean that Local 701 cannot get damages for the breach.

Id. at 1398.

Several other courts atide NLRBitself have applied this reasoningsimilar
circumstancesSeeHutter Constr. Co. v. Int'l Union of Operating Eng’rs, Local 139, AFIO,
862 F.2d 641, 642 (7th Cir. 1988)iron Constr. Co., Inc. v. Int'l Union of Operating Emg,
Local 139 44 F.3d 558, 563 (7th Cir. 1998)arpenters Local 33(AGC of Mass289 NLRB
No. 167, 1988 WL 213975 (July 29, 198Bach of these cases shares three crucial
characteristicsFirst, in each case, the complainingan was party to a CBA with a general

contractorThat CBA contained a clause that proscribed the general contractor from
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subcontracting work to employers that were not also parties to the CBA. Secorulh casa,

the general contractor violated tisabcontracting provision of the CBA by subcontracting work
to anon-signatorysubcontractor. Third, in each case, the union’s grievance against the general
contractor did not seek to compel the subcontractor to assign the disputed work to the union’s
memberdut, insteadonly sought money damages for breach of the subcontracting clause.

Respondents argue thaGC contains “a fact pattern virtually identical to the present
matter.”Opp’n to Pet. at &irst, Respondentargue that th€arriersare general cdaractorsand
thePCLCD forbids theCarriersfrom subcontracting reefer work to “ndargaining unit
personnel.’Opp’nto Pet. at 5, 13, 15-16. Second, they suggest th&datershave violated the
PCLCD by subcontracting the reefer work to “rmergainng unit personnel.” Third,
Respondents suggest thiagir grievances against tarriersare intended to obtain only
contractbased moneglamages from the Carriensot to force the Port and ICTSI to reassign the
reefer work to ILWUmembersld. at 21-22.

TheCourt, however, is unconvinced. Respondéatgo identify any specifigorovision
of the PCLCD that th€arriersallegedly breached supposedly subcontracting the reefer work.
Accordingly, the Court cannot conclude that Respondents have valahlofeeontractmoney
damageclaims against th€arriersthat are independent of the 8 10(k) decision.

Moreover, even if th€ CLCDdid contain a subcontracting provision similar to
provisions present in the CBAs AGC, Hutter, Micron, andCarpenters Local 33he
circumstances here would still not be analogous to the circumstartbe\@Cline of cases
Here, theCarrierssubcontracted with ICTSI to perform the reefer watklike the
subcontractors in thRGCline of cases, however, ICT8he subcontretor)is a party to the

CBA (the PCLCD)between the general contracftre Carriersand the complaining union
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(Respondents). Thus, even assuming that the PCLCD forbi@athersfrom subcontracting
work to non-signatories to the PCLCD, f@arrierscould not havebreachedhat provision by
contracting with ICTSI because ICTSIparty to the PCLCD.

Simply put, Respondents have failed to establish that their lost work opportunity
grievances against tligarriersare based on a plausible breadkcontrat theory similar to the
unions’ breach-otontract claims in thAGCline of cases. In the absence of a plausible breach
of-contract claim against th@arriersthat is independent of the § 10(k) decision, it appears that
Respondents’ grievances against@ariersare simply (or at least primarilyjtended indirectly
to pressure the Port and ICTSI to assign the reefer work to ILWU membaeast,lmfresponse
to Respondents’ grievances, one carrier, Hanjin, sent an email to ICTSI and ttierRamtling
that they use ILWU members to perform reefer work. Dkt. 2-2 at 218-19. Section Sifioi%) (
is intended to prohibit this sort of conduct.

The Courtrecognizeghat the legal principles developedAGC, Hutter, Micron, and
Carpenters Local 3are complexand nuanced. Moreover, theculiar circumstanced this
case may warranitber expansion or contraction of those principles. This Court, however, does
not have jurisdiction to enter a final decision on whether Respondents’ grievancestagains
Carriess violate § 8(b)(4)(ii)(D). That decision belongshe NLRB In the present decision, the
Courtmust simply determine whether Petitioner is likely to succeed on the merits ofilms. cla
The Court concludes that Petitioner is likely to succeed on h{®g4(ii)(D) claim.

2. 8§ 8(b)(4)(ii)(B)

Section 8(b)(4)(ii)(B) providethat it isan unfair labor practice forunion ‘to threaten,
coerce, or restrain any person engaged in comrhastere an objeadf the union’s conduct is

to force or requiredny persa to . . . cease doing business with any other person.” 29 U.S.C.
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158(b)(4)(ii))(B). Section (b)(4)(ii)(B) “only prohibits . . . slled ‘secondary’ activity, not
primary activity! John B. Cruz Constr. Co., Inc. v. United Bhd. of Carpenters & Joiners of Am.,
Local 33 907 F.2d 1228, 1230 (1st Cir. 1990heTdistinction between primary an@sondary
activity depends upon the object of the union’s picketing. If the object of the union’s conduct is
to put direct pressure on the employer with whom the union has a dispute, the conduct is primary
and lawful. If, on the other hand, the primary object of the union’s conduct, taken as a whole, is
to bring indirect pressure on the primary employer by involving a neutral or sec@mdalgyer
in the dispute, the conduct is secondary and prohibitdd.see alsd’rod. Workers Union of
Chicago & Vicinity, Local 707 v. N.L.R,B/93 F.2d 323, 330 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (“secondary
activity under Section 8(b)(4)(B) refers only to pressure on a neutral thigd)part

In National Woodwork Manufacturers Association v. N.B.R386 U.S. 612 (1967), the
Supreme Court carved out an exception to the prohibition on secondary activity. Tpigogxce
is often called the “work preservatibdoctrine. Under the work preservation doctrine, a union’s
activity that is ‘tonducted for the sole purpose of preserving traditional unit work and directed at
an immediate employéis] not violative of section 8(b)(f#)] (B) in spite of ancillary secondary
effects.”Local 644, United Bhd. of Carpeers& Joiners of Am., AFL-CIO v. N.L.B, 533 F.2d
1136, 1147 (D.C. Cir. 1975). To qualify as lawful work preservation, the union’s conduct must
satisfy two tests:

First, it must have as its objective the preservation of work traditionally pextbby
employees represented by the union. Second, the contracting employer milsehave
power to give the employees the work in questitime-sacalled “right of control” test of

[N. L. R. B. v. Enter. Ass’n of Steam, Hot Water, Hydraulic Sprinkler, Pneumatic Tube,
Ice Mach. & Gen. Pipefitters of New York & Vicinity, Local Union No.,@2% U.S. 507
(2977) (Pipefitters”)] . The rationale of the second test is that if the contracting employer
has no power to assign the work, it is reason@hiefer that the agremen{or activity]

has a secondary objective, that is, to influence whoever does have such power over the
work.
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N. L. R. B. v. Int'l Longshoremen’s Ass’n, AELO, 447 U.S. 490, 504-05 (1980). Thus, under
the secongbrong,the“right of control” test, a union’s activity performed with the object of
preserving the union’s work may nevertheless “violate 8§ 8(b)(4)[ii](B) iptimary employer
‘does not have control over the assignment of the work sought by the ufiNrL”R.B. vint'l
Longshoremen’sgs’n, AFL-CIO, 473 U.S. 61, 74 (1985) (quotimipefitters 429 U.S. at 510-
11).

Petitioner allegethat Respondents’ pursuit of the 8 301 claim and grievances against the
Carriersviolates 88(b)(4)(ii)(B) becausdCTSI and theCarriersare neutral emplars andhe
object of Respondents’ § 301 claim and grievamsés force ICTSI and th€arriersto cease
doing businss with the Port. Pet. at Respondents do not contest Petitioner’s allegation that
their maintenance dhe 8§ 301 claim against ICTS8iolates 8§ 8(b)(4)()(B). Respondents argue,
however, that they may continue to pursue their grievances agai@rniersbecause the
Carriersarenot neutraemployersand the object of Respondents’ grievances is to preserve work
that has traditionajlbeen performed by their members. OpjoriPet. at 1119.

The Court concludeghat Petitioner is likely to prevdieforethe NLRBontheclaim that
Respondents’ grievances against@aeriersviolate 8§ 8(b)(4)(ii)(B). Contrary to Respondents’
argumentthe Court finds that the NLRB is likely to conclude that Respondents’ grievances are
not lawful pursuant to the work preservation doctrine. The NLRB has already foutsd, in
8 10(k) decision, that Respondents do not have a work preservation claimeeférevork. The
NLRB explained thatIBEW-represented electricians have been performing the disputed work

since 1974. Where, as here, a union is claiming work for employees who have not previously

® The term “pimary employer” show not be confused with primary or secondary
activity. A work boycott against the primary employer may constitute anvéuilaecondary
boycott if the primary employer does not have the right to control the wos&uag. i
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performed it, the objective is not work preservation, but work acquisitioti.’Bhd. of Elec.
Workers 2012 WL 3306478, at *4.

Even assuming, however, that Respondents’ activityabas objective the preservation
of work traditionally performetty ILWU members, therebgatisfying the first test required
unde the work preervation doctrine, Respondemtsuld still fail to satisfy the right of control
test.The question of which party in the present dispute has the right to control the re&fer wor
has been decided twice beforeHaoks v. Int'| Longshore & Warehouse Union, LocaCase
No. 3:12¢€v-01088SI (D. Or.), this Court determined that the Port of Portland controlled the
reefer work. In additionn its 8 10(k) decisionthe NLRBdetermined that the Port controls the
reefer workInt’'l Bhd. of Elec. Wikers 2012 WL 3306478, at *@'the Port is the employer in
control of the work in disputg.

Notwithstanding these decisiori®gspondents cite to case law andals sent from the
Carriersto the Port and ICTSI aratgues thatthe Carriershave the righto control the reefer
work. Neither the case law nor themails cited by Respondents warrant revisiting
conclusions already reachedthys Court and bythe NLRBthat the Port, not th€arriers
controls the assignment of the reefer wditke principalcase cited by RespondentdNid..R.B.

v. Int'l Longshoremen’s Ass'\FL-CIO, 473 U.S. 61 (1985) [LA”). Opp’'nto Pet. at 15. In

that casethe Supreme Court noted that “the longshoremen’s employers, marine shipping
companies, have the ‘right to control’ container loading and unloading work by virtuerof the
ownership or leasing control of the containetd.”at 74 n.200n the facts before the Supreme
Court in that case, this may well have been tu&, however, was decided more than 25 years
ago ad on the basis of contractual agreements that have long since been supérsedeadirt

cannot rely on a statement in a@&arold case that was made on the basis of different &ancts

Pagel9 —OPINION AND ORDER



different contract$o determine that th€arriersherehave theight to control the reefer work at
Terminal 6 today.

The numerous emails sent from tharriersto the Port and ICTSI also fail to establish
that theCarriershave the right to “control” the reefer work. In thosmails, theCarriers
demand that ICTSI ahthe Port use ILWU members to perform reefer w8deDecl. of Robert
Remar, Exs. AF (Dkt. 22). Respondents contend that timeagls establish that thearriers
control the reefer work. Th&arriers e-mails, however, merely establish that @eariers
believe that the PCLCDontractuallyrequires ILWU to perform the reefer wotk.fact, the
Carriers may be correct that the PCLCD requires ICTSI to use ILWU memlggorm reefer
work. The emails do not establisiihowever, which party actually conlsdheassignment of
reefer work at Terminal t the Port of Portland. In its § 10(k) decisidie NLRBfoundthat
the Terminal 6 Lease and the DCTU Agreement providehlea®ort controls the assignment of
the reefer workint’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers2012 WL 3306478t *5-6. The Port isnot a party
to the PCLCD and is not bound by the PCLCD’s apparent requirement that ILWU members
perform the reefer work. Accordingly, the Carribesse no power to assign Respondents the
work they seek.

Because th€arrierslack the authority to assign the reefer work to ILWU members
Respondents’ grievances against the Carriers cannot compel the Carrisigrnaresreefer
work to ILWU members. The “commonsense inference” to be drawn from this evidaheg, i

becawse the Carriers have no power to assign the reefer work to ILWU membsparigents’

’ At least onekey difference between the present case and the circumstaritésisn
evident from the&SupremeCourt’s statement alone. The Cosidtedthat the “marine shipping
companies” were “longshoremen’s employers.” In this case, howevéathiersdo not
directly employthe ILWU members. Instead, th@arriersapparently contract with terminal
operators, such as ICTSI, to perform work on the containers, and ICTSI, not tleesCarri
employs the ILWU members.

Page20 —OPINION AND ORDER



grievances are tactically calculated to pressure the Carriers to cease daegdwiih the Port.
United Food & Commercial Workers Union Local No. 3833 NLRB No. 84, 2001 WL
345201 (Apr. 4, 2001()'The ‘commonsense inferenc® be drawn from all the record evidence
is that, because QFC has no power to assign the work in controversy, the Respondent’
grievancearbitration was not addressed to the labor relations of the contracting Emplege
vis-a-vis its own employees, but was calculated to satisfy union objectbexghelre vis-4-vis
Cinnabor). Section 8(b)(4)(iijB) makes it an unlawful trade practice for a union to coerce,
threatenor restraina neutral emplger where the object of the union’s conduct is to force or
require thehat neutral employdo cease doing business with another empldyeeNLRB is
likely to find, therefore, that Respondents have violat8(h¥4)(ii)(B) by filing lost work
opportunty grievances against the Carriers.
B. Irreparable Harm

Permitting an “allegedly unfair labor practice to reach fruition and theesimer
meaninglesshe NLRBs remedial authority is irreparable harnsiall 611 F.3d at 494
(internal quotation marks andation omitted) In this case, Respondents’ § 301 claim against
ICTSI is continuing to cost ICTSI legal fees. In additiGayrierHanjin has threatened to pass
along the cost of its legal fees defending Respondents’ grievances to BKT.SA02 at 218-19.
ICTSI states that if th€arriershold ICTSI responsible for Respondents’ grievances against the
Carriers ICTSI would “be forced, by economic necessity, to suspend or drasticalyl curt
operations at the Terminal.” Affidavit of Elvis Ganda, Dkt. 19-2 at 41. Respondents’ grésvan
against theCarrierscould also cause th@arriersto make the decision thypass the Port of
Portland. This could also seriously threaten ICTSI’s ability to continue to ep8est icat 40

41. ICTSIs onlyviablealternatve to either of these scenaria®uld be to negotiate with the
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Port to reassign the reefer work to ILWU members. That alternative, howeued render
meaninglesshe NLRBs remedialauthority.Given these choices, ti@ourt concludeghat
Petitioner hagstablished thikelihood of irreparable harm in the absence of a preliminary
injunction.

C. Balance of the Equitiesand the Public Interest

The balance of the equities tips sharply in Petitioner’s favor. The only hardship
Respondents face is delay in progteng a lawsuit thathe NLRBwill likely conclude is
unlawful and delay in pursuing grievansesking money damagagainst th&arriersthatthe
NLRB will likely find to be unwarrantedEven ifthe NLRBwere to conclud¢éhat Respondents’
grievances agast theCarriersare lawful, the delay pendirige NLRBs decision will not
“irreparably harrhRespordents. Respondents’ grievances againsChmeiersseek only money
damages. Ithe NLRBwere todecidethat Respondents may pursue those grievancedelag
will not deprive Respondents of the abilitifimatelyto obtainthe money damagésey seekAs
described above, the hardships faced by Petitioner are significantly naere.4€TSI faces the
possibility of no longer beingble to operate at Ternal 6.

Further, adecision by th&€arriersto bypass the Port of Portland wolileely injure the
localand regional economiesd deprive many employees at Termidalf the opportunity to
work. In light ofall of these potential consequescthe balance of equities and public interest
sharply favorghe grantingof a preliminary injunctionSee Small611 F.3d at 494-95 (union’s
delay in prosecuting lawsuit did not outweigh potential “disruption of industrial peaased

by reassigning disputed work from one union to another).
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INJUNCTIVE RELIEF ORDERED
The Courtconcludes that Petitioner has satisiadh of the fouwinterelements
required for thegrantingof a 8§ 10(l) preliminary injunction Moreover, even
if Petitioner did not fully demonstrate that heswikely to succeed on the merdthis claims
the Court concludes that Petitioner has raised serious questions going to the@hmesitlaims
and the balance of equities tips sharply in his favor. Thus, Petitioner has bseththiat the
Court should issue a preliminary injunction pursuant to both the traditiginétrtest and the
Ninth Circuit’s “serious questions” variation of that t&dte Court, thereforeGRANTS
Petitioner’s Petition for Preliminary Injunctive Reli&kt. 1, as follows:
Perding final adjudication byhe NLRB of the pending administrative action above:
1. Respondents International Longshore and Warehouse Union Local 8, International
Longshore and Warehouse Union Local 40, and the International Longshore and
Warehouse Union, their officers, agents, servants, employees, affibatdd, lattorneys
and all members and persons acting in concert or participation with them be, and they
hereby areENJOINED from filing, processing, maintaining, prosecutingthreatening
grievances onewlawsuits against ICTSdr the Carriers includingbut not limited to
Cosco North America, Inc., Hanjin Shipping America, LLC, “K” Line Americe,,
Hapag LloydAmerica Inc, or otherwise threatening, coercing, or restraininglagiers
or any otler person engaged in commerce, or in an industry affecting commerce, where
in any case an objetttereof is, in part, to: (i) force or require any of @eariersor other
persongo cease performing servicks, handling, or otherwise dealing in the puots
of, and to cease doing business with, the Port of Porttar(d) to force or require the

Port of Portland to assign the disputed work to employees who are members of, or
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represented byRespondentgather than temployees who are members of, or
represented by, IBEW Local 48, or from engaging in any like or related conduct;

2. Respondents shall, withsevendays, provide to each of their officers, representatives,
employees, agents, affiliated locals, and members involved with work perfotrmed a
Terminal 6 a copy of this Order and a clear written directive to refrain from engagyi
any conduct inconsistent with this Order;

3. Respondents shall, withsevendays, provide to each of ti@arriers as well as to the
Pacific Maritime Association, a copy tifis Order and a written notice signed by
responsible officials of each Respondent. Such written notice shall state imesatista
following:

The undersigned represent that the International Lonshore and Warehouse
Union and its Locals 8 and 40 will comply with the attached Order and will not
engage in any conduct prohibited by 88§ 8(b)(4)(ii)(B) and (D) of the Act,
including, but not limited to, in any manner or by any means, including by filing,
processing, maintaining, or threatening grievancegwaawsuits against ICTSI
or other entities named above in paragraph 8(k), or otherwise threatening,
coercing, or restraining ICTSI, or any other person engaged in commence/or i
industry affecting commerce, where in any case an object thereof isfturc@)
or require the Port to assign the disputed work to employees who are members of,
or represented by, Respondent International, Respondent Local 8, and/or
Respondent Local 40, rather than to employees who are members of, or
represented by, the Internated Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (“IBEW”)
Local 48; or (b) to force or require the Port to assign the disputed work to
employees who are members of, or represented by, Respondent Local 8 and/or
Respondent Local 40, rather than to employees who are members of, or
represented by, IBEW Local 48.

4. Respondents shall within fourteen days of the issuance of this Ordeitlilthes District
Court and serve a copy upon the Petitioner, a sworn affidavit from a responsilie offic

thatdescribes how it has cotrgd with the terms of this Order.
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IT IS SO ORDERED.
Dated thi21st day of November, 2012.
/s/ Michael H. Simon

Michael H. Simon
United States District Judge
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